Environment Waikato Technical Report 2008/27

Evaluation of the Impacts of Finfish Farming on Marine Mammals in the Firth of Thames



www.ew.govt.nz ISSN 1172-4005 (Print) ISSN 1177-9284 (Online)

Prepared by: Dr Samuel Du Fresne (Du Fresne Ecology Ltd)

For: Environment Waikato PO Box 4010 HAMILTON EAST

June 2008

Document #: 1318922

Approved for release by: Peter Singleton Date June 2008

Disclaimer

This technical report has been prepared for the use of Waikato Regional Council as a reference document and as such does not constitute Council's policy.

Council requests that if excerpts or inferences are drawn from this document for further use by individuals or organisations, due care should be taken to ensure that the appropriate context has been preserved, and is accurately reflected and referenced in any subsequent spoken or written communication.

While Waikato Regional Council has exercised all reasonable skill and care in controlling the contents of this report, Council accepts no liability in contract, tort or otherwise, for any loss, damage, injury or expense (whether direct, indirect or consequential) arising out of the provision of this information or its use by you or any other party.

Acknowledgement

Rob Chappell of the Department of Conservation kindly provided the killer whale sightings data in section 3.3, in addition to stranding records summarised in section 3.6 and table 2. Previous stranding data were provided by Debbie Steel (formerly University of Auckland and currently Oregon State University). Thanks to Grant Hopkins of the Cawthron Institute in Nelson for providing the photos in figure 3.

Table of contents

A	Acknowledgement				
Е	Executive summary				
1	Introduction	1			
2	Data sources	1			
3	Marine mammal species encountered in the Firth of Thames	3			
	3.1 Short-beaked common dolphins – <i>Delphinus delphis</i>	3			
	3.2 Bottlenose dolphins – <i>Tursiops truncatus</i>	4			
	3.3 Killer whales, or orca – Orcinus orca	6			
	3.4 Bryde's whale – Balaenoptera edeni/brydei	7			
	3.5 Beaked whales (various species)	9			
	3.6 Known stranding events in the Firth of Thames	10			
	3.7 Species known from Hauraki Gulf	11			
4	Potential effects of finfish farming on marine mammals of the Firth of				
	Thames	12			
	4.1 Entanglement	13			
	4.1.1 Description of effect	13			
	4.1.2 Species likely to be anected - entanglement	10			
	4.2 Habitat exclusion 4.2 Description	15			
	4.2.2 Species likely to be affected – habitat exclusion	16			
	4.3 Vessel disturbance – ship strike & underwater noise	16			
	4.3.1 Description	16			
	4.3.2 Species likely to be affected – ship strike	17			
5	Risk and ecological consequences of identified effects	17			
	5.1 Entanglement	17			
	5.2 Habitat exclusion	17			
	5.3 Vessel disturbance	18			
6	Research recommendations	18			
7	Conclusions	19			
R	References				
Appendix 1: Definitions of conservation status used by IUCN					
A	Appendix 2: Definitions of conservation status as used by Department of Conservation. 2				

List of figures

- Figure 1: Map showing existing aquaculture management areas within the Waikato region. Figure provided by Environment Waikato; 14 April, 2008.
- Figure 2: Locations of Orca sightings (▲) in the Firth of Thames & Coromandel region, 1994 – 2008 (provided by R. Chappell, Department of Conservation, Auckland). Plotted using MapSource and BlueChart Pacific v9.5.
- Figure 3: Predator nets around Salmon farms, Marlborough Sounds (photos courtesy of Grant Hopkins, Cawthron Institute).

2

7

14

List of tables

Table 1:	The primary cetacean species likely to be encountered in the Firth of Thames	3
Table 2:	Beaked whales with known or suspected distribution overlap with New Zealand waters (Jefferson et al. 2008).	10
Table 3:	Cetacean strandings in the Firth of Thames, 1993 – 2008.	11
Table 4:	Other marine mammal species known to occur in Hauraki Gulf (Du Fresne 2006); their conservation status (IUCN; Hitchmough et al. 2005) and known threats (Jefferson et al. 2008).	12
Table 5:	Summary of impacts associated with aquaculture; and the differences between mussel and fish farms.	18

Executive summary

Aquaculture in New Zealand is dominated by the Greenshell[™] mussel, however it is expected that finfish aquaculture will expand in coming years. Environmental Waikato is scoping a plan change that would allow finfish aquaculture to be developed within existing aquaculture management areas (AMA) currently used for mussel farming. This report seeks to identify those marine mammal species most likely to be at risk from such activities. Impacts, associated risks, and ecological consequences are identified and discussed.

The marine mammal species most likely to be encountered in the Firth of Thames include: short-beaked common dolphins (*Delphinus delphis*); bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncates*); killer whales (orca; *Orcinus orca*); Bryde's whales (*Balaenoptera edeni/brydei*); and various species of beaked whales. Additionally, the neighbouring Hauraki Gulf contains a high diversity of marine mammals, including those already listed, as well as: humpback whales (*Megaptera novaeangliae*); southern right whale (*Eubalena australis*); pilot whales (*Globicephala* sp.); and minke whales (*Balaenoptera acutorostrata/bonaerensis*).

Three possible effects of finfish aquaculture on marine mammals were identified: entanglement; habitat exclusion; and vessel disturbance.

Entanglement will be a greater risk for small cetaceans such as short-beaked common dolphins and bottlenose dolphins. Entanglement risk is currently well-managed by the aquaculture industry in areas of New Zealand where salmon farms exist, and there have been only three known cases of dolphin fatalities after becoming entangled in predator nets in over 25 years. Operational practices and net designs have improved such that entanglement should be a minor risk, however this will need to be monitored.

Habitat exclusion and vessel disturbance are potential risks for many marine mammals that utilise the Firth. A paucity of data makes assessment difficult; however clear mitigation strategies exist should future surveys and monitoring determine these risks to be significant.

Introduction 1

Aquaculture in New Zealand is currently worth around \$320 million annually¹, and the New Zealand aquaculture industry aims to increase this figure to \$1 billion by 2025. Globally, the importance of aquaculture appears to be increasing, with expectations that by 2030 aquaculture production will match wild fisheries catch². Against this backdrop of increasing economic performance and a drive to expand, the aquaculture industry in New Zealand has expressed a desire to maintain environmental sustainability.

The New Zealand aquaculture industry is still dominated by the production and sales of Greenshell[™] mussels; however King Salmon is also an important component, with established operations in the Marlborough Sounds; Stewart Island; and Akaroa Harbour (Banks Peninsula). While the finfish sector of New Zealand's aquaculture industry has been relatively small to date, there is significant interest in developing new sites for salmon farming, in addition to trialling new species such as kingfish.

There are currently 1500 hectares of space allocated to marine farming within the Waikato region, with much of this already developed for mussel and oyster farming. Environment Waikato recognises the importance of finfish farming to the continued development of aquaculture in their region, but also acknowledge their obligations under the Resource Management Act to minimise adverse effects on indigenous flora and fauna.

Environment Waikato is considering a plan change that would allow finfish farms within the existing AMA in the Firth of Thames and around the Coromandel Peninsula (figure 1). The goal of this report is to identify species of marine mammals which may be potentially affected by farming of finfish or other species, as opposed to established mussel and oyster farms. Potential effects on these species will be discussed, together with likely risk of these effects occurring; and their ecological consequences.

2 Data sources

As with many areas of New Zealand, there are few systematic sightings data³ available to describe marine mammal usage of the Firth of Thames. Information is therefore obtained from sighting records held by the Department of Conservation; and stranding records. A similar exercise was undertaken in 2006 (Du Fresne 2006), and those results provide a useful starting point here. Updated killer whale sighting records and stranding data were provided by Rob Chappell (Department of Conservation, Auckland).

¹ <u>http://www.seafood.co.nz/aquaculture</u>, accessed 05 May, 2008 ² The New Zealand Aquaculture Strategy.

³ i.e. sightings from systematic marine mammal surveys; as distinguished from stranding data, and sightings reported by members of the public.



Figure 1: Map showing existing aquaculture management areas within the Waikato region. Figure provided by Environment Waikato; 14 April, 2008.

3 Marine mammal species encountered in the Firth of Thames

The list of 'primary' species compiled by Du Fresne (2006; and see table 1) covers those marine mammal species with confirmed sightings in the Firth of Thames; as well as species known to inhabit these waters. For the purpose of this report, beaked whales have been considered as one group. A summary of current knowledge is provided for each species, under the general headings of: status & threats; distribution; life history; and behaviour. For each species, a global status was obtained from the IUCN Red List of Threatened Species (see appendix 1 for definitions). New Zealand status was obtained from Hitchmough et al. (2005; see appendix 2 for definitions). General biological and ecological information came primarily from Jefferson et al. (2008); and Perrin et al. (2002). Literature searches were performed to provide further species-, issue-, and New Zealand-specific information.

Table 1:The primary cetacean species likely to be encountered in the Firth of
Thames

Common name	Scientific name
Short-beaked common dolphin	Delphinus delphis
Bottlenose dolphin	Tursiops truncatus
Killer whale (orca)	Orcinus orca
Bryde's whales	Balaenoptera edeni/brydei
Beaked whales	Genus: Berardius, Ziphius, Hyperoodon, Tasmacetus, Mesoplodon

3.1 Short-beaked common dolphins – *Delphinus delphis*

Status & threats

- Global: lower risk least concern⁴.
- New Zealand: not threatened (secure overseas).

Though not considered globally threatened, many regional populations of common dolphins are thought to be in serious trouble, often as a result of incidental and directed catch (Reeves et al. 2003). For example, common dolphins in the Mediterranean are considered endangered (Jefferson et al. 2008), though in this case, it is possibly due to overfishing and prey depletion (Bearzi et al. 2006). Common dolphins are targets for tourism in some areas of New Zealand (Bay of Plenty/Coromandel, as well as Hauraki Gulf; Neumann & Orams 2005), which can result in behavioural changes (Stockin et al. 2008). Common dolphins are occasionally incidentally caught during jack mackerel trawls in New Zealand waters (Du Fresne et al. 2007), and appear to be susceptible to recreational bycatch in the Hauraki region (K. Stockin, Massey University, pers. comm.).

Distribution

Common dolphins are regularly seen from Bay of Islands to Kaikoura (Neumann, 2001), but also as far south as Fiordland (Lusseau & Slooten 2002). Common dolphins are the most abundant cetacean species in the Hauraki Gulf, and appear to be uniformly spread through-out the Gulf. Year round occurrence in this area and a high re-sighting rate amongst the 500 or so identified individuals indicates some degree of

⁴ Cetacean Specialist Group 1996. Delphinus delphis. In: IUCN 2007. 2007 IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 04 May 2008.

residency in this area (Neumann & Orams 2005; K. Stockin, Massey University, pers. comm.). Neumann et al. (2002) noted higher abundance and site fidelity for common dolphins in Hauraki Gulf than in Mercury Bay (Coromandel Peninsula). Whereas elsewhere in the World common dolphins are thought of as a pelagic, open water species; in the Hauraki Gulf region they appear to inhabit coastal waters, and can be encountered in waters as shallow as 7m.

Life History

Calving intervals are 1-3 years (Jefferson et al. 2008). Age of sexual maturity seems to vary between populations, and ranges from 3 to 12 years for males, and 2 to 7 years for females (Perrin 2002). Longevity is thought to be at least 25 years (Jefferson et al. 2008). Contaminant loads of common dolphins in New Zealand are thought to be similar to Hector's dolphins (Stockin et al. 2007). Oceanic dolphins are often thought to have less exposure to point source pollution, and the relatively high concentrations of chlorinated biphenyls in common dolphins reported by Stockin et al. (2007) may be reflective of their preference for coastal waters. The mean pollutant transmissions between mother and calf were 42% and 46% for DDTs and PCBs (respectively).

Behaviour

Common dolphins are often encountered in large groups. Neumann & Orams (2005) report group sizes in Mercury Bay of 2 to 400, while O'Callaghan & Baker (2002) reported a mean group size in Hauraki Gulf of 117. Associations with other marine mammal species (e.g. Bryde's whales in the Hauraki Gulf; O'Callaghan & Baker 2002) are not uncommon.

Common dolphins feed on a variety of fish species (Neumann & Orams, 2005), including arrow squid (*Nototodarus* sp.), false trevally (Lactariidae; Stockin et al. 2005), and pilchards (K. Stockin, Massey University, pers. comm.). In the Bay of Plenty (and elsewhere in the world) common dolphins can undertake seasonal movements, which may be related to distribution of prey species (Neumann 2001; Neumann et al. 2002; Neumann & Orams 2005). It is not yet known if common dolphins in the Hauraki Gulf behave in a similar manner.

Common dolphins in the Bay of Plenty/Coromandel area, as well as Hauraki Gulf, are targeted by commercial tour operators. Behavioural responses of dolphins to boats seem to follow a previously observed pattern in Hector's dolphin (Bejder et al. 1999) of attraction-neutral-avoidance. In other words, dolphins are initially attracted to the vessel; become neutral towards it over time; and will eventually actively try to avoid the vessel. Additionally, a change in behaviour of feeding to travelling indicates that at least some of the time, dolphin activities may be disturbed by the presence of boats (Neumann and Orams 2005). Indeed, Stockin et al. (2008) found that foraging and resting bouts of common dolphins in the Hauraki Gulf were significantly disrupted by interactions with tour boats. Additionally, foraging dolphins took longer to return to their initial behavioural state after an interaction, with dolphins instead showing a preference towards socializing and milling.

3.2 Bottlenose dolphins – *Tursiops truncatus*

Status & threats

- Global: data deficient⁵.
- New Zealand: range restricted (secure overseas).

Bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) are widely distributed through out the world, inhabiting tropical and temperate waters (Wells & Scott 2002). While the species is not in danger of global extinction (Jefferson et al. 2008), several smaller, localised populations (including the Mediterranean and Black Seas; Sri Lanka; Peru; Taiwan and

⁵ Cetacean Specialist Group 1996. *Tursiops truncatus*. In: IUCN 2007. *2007 IUCN Red List of Threatened Species*. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 04 May 2008.

Japan) are known or suspected to be under pressure from human activities such as directed and incidental catch, environmental degradation and live captures (Reeves et al. 2003).

In New Zealand waters, the primary threat to bottlenose dolphins is tourism interactions (Suisted & Neale 2004), with well developed bottlenose dolphin-focussed industries existing in Milford and Doubtful Sounds (Fiordland); and the Bay of Islands. The impacts and potential effects of this are discussed below, under 'behaviour'. Recently, other factors such as anthropogenic freshwater input (via the Manapouri Power Station tailrace) and over-fishing have been suggested as possible mechanisms behind an apparent decline in bottlenose dolphins in Doubtful Sound (Currey et al. 2007).

Distribution

Within New Zealand there are three discontinuous groupings of bottlenose dolphins: eastern North Island; northern South Island; and Fiordland. The southernmost resident bottlenose dolphins in the world are found in Fiordland, where they comprise three subpopulations⁶: those found in Doubtful Sound, Milford Sound and Dusky Sound. It has been suggested that there is little interchange among the three Fiordland subpopulations (Lusseau et al. 2003). In comparison, photo-identification catalogues from Hauraki Gulf and the Bay of Islands show that the majority of dolphins sighted in the Hauraki Gulf have been seen in both areas. Around 70% of the individuals match between the two areas, suggesting that this is a wide-ranging population covering the north-eastern part of the North Island (R. Constantine, University of Auckland, pers. comm.).

Life History

Bottlenose dolphins are thought to live to a maximum age of around 45 (males) to 50 years (females). In Doubtful Sound, at least one known individual seen in 2003 was likely aged between 30 and 40 years (Boisseau 2003).

Males reach sexual maturity at around 9-14 years, but do not achieve breeding status until later; females reach sexual maturity at 5-13 years. Gestation period is approximately 1 year. Calving in New Zealand populations appears to peak during summer months (Haase & Schneider 2001; Constantine 2002; Boisseau 2003). Elsewhere bottlenose dolphins also tend to give birth in spring or summer (Mann et al. 2000; Wells & Scott 2002). Calving intervals are generally three to six years (Mann et al. 2000; Wells & Scott 2002), though can be shorter particularly if a calf dies within the first year (Haase & Schneider 2001; Mann et al. 2000).

Calves achieve most of their growth during suckling (Wells & Scott 2002). Weaning occurs at between three and six years (Wells & Scott 2002), though can take up to nine years (Mann et al. 2000).

The annual birth rate in New Zealand populations is typically in the order of 5-8% (Constantine 2002; Boisseau 2003), though can reach as high as 11-14% (Haase & Schneider 2001; Constantine 2002).

Behaviour

Constantine (2002) found that the majority (79.6%, n = 160) of group size of bottlenose dolphins in the Bay of Islands was 2-20. Similarly, O'Callaghan & Baker (2002) encountered an average group size of 13.8 (n = 9) in the Hauraki Gulf.

Bottlenose dolphins tend to feed primarily on fish and, to a lesser extent, cephalopods throughout much of their range (Cockcroft & Ross 1990; Barros & Odell 1990; Blanco et al. 2001; Gowans et al. 2008). However, different social groups have been shown to

⁶ Sub-populations as used here is defined by Hitchmough *et al.* (2005) as "Geographically or otherwise distinct groups in the population between which there is little exchange (typically one successful migrant individual or gamete per year or less)...." A population is defined by Hitchmough *et al.* (2005) as "The total number of individuals of the taxon that are resident, or breed in New Zealand."

have different prey preferences, which tend to reflect local prey distribution (Wells 2003, cited in Gowans et al. 2008). Additionally, bottlenose dolphins employ a diverse repertoire of feeding behaviours that are thought to reflect prey avoidance strategies, and may forage as a group or individually (Connor et al. 2000).

Studies on impacts of bottlenose dolphin tourism in the Bay of Islands have shown that dolphins increased avoidance behaviour towards swimmers over time (Constantine 2001); and that resting behaviour decreased as the number of tour boat trips increased (Constantine et al. 2004).

Studies in Fiordland have also shown a number of short-term responses to tour boats, including: decreases in resting behaviour (Lusseau 2003a; b); and increase in dive times and horizontal travel (*i.e.* avoidance; Lusseau 2004). Bottlenose dolphins in Milford Sound appear to exhibit different avoidance strategies during periods of heavy boat traffic. Specifically, if the dolphins experience a time lag between interactions of fewer than 68 minutes, area-avoidance becomes energetically cost-effective, and dolphins spend less time in Milford Sound (Lusseau 2004). This is because if dolphins are interacting with, or trying to avoid vessels, there is an associated cost, as they will tend to stop socialising, resting or feeding. With sufficient lag time between vessel interactions, this cost remains lower than 68 minutes, it becomes energetically beneficial for the dolphins to avoid the area where there are tour vessels.

Despite attempts to model the long-term, population level effects of these responses (Lusseau et al. 2006), such effects are not well understood at present. However in Western Australia, studies have suggested that tour boat pressure can result in a decline in bottlenose dolphin population (Bejder et al. 2006).

3.3 Killer whales, or orca – Orcinus orca

Status & threats

- Global: lower risk conservation dependent⁷.
- New Zealand: nationally critical (secure overseas, data poor).

The iconic killer whales do not appear to be globally threatened, however it is well known that several small, regional populations of killer whales are vulnerable to over-exploitation and habitat degradation (Reeves et al. 2003; Jefferson et al. 2008). For example, killer whales are still killed in several fisheries, and can also become entangled in fishing gear. Live captures for oceanaria also still occur and can put populations under further pressure (Jefferson et al. 2008).

Within New Zealand, entanglements in fishing gear and boat strikes are probably the greatest threats to killer whales (Visser 1999a). Although Suisted & Neale (2004) conclude that "no significant human induced mortality is known", the killer whale population of New Zealand is small and therefore unlikely to be able to sustain high numbers of non-natural mortalities.

Distribution

There are potentially three sub-populations of killer whales in New Zealand waters: North and South Island populations; and an additional group that appears to move between the two islands (Visser 2000). Some killer whales have been known to travel an average of 170 km/day, covering up to 4000 km. The New Zealand killer whale population is thought to number around 200 (Suisted & Neale, 2004).

Figure 2 shows sighting locations of killer whales in the Firth of Thames/Coromandel region from 1994 – 2008. It is not surprising that there are 'hotspots' of sightings near

⁷ Cetacean Specialist Group 1996. Orcinus orca. In: IUCN 2007. 2007 IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 04 May 2008.

centers of human activity (e.g. Coromandel Harbour). This is not likely to reflect true distribution patterns, but does indicate that killer whales are frequent visitors to the area.



Figure 2: Locations of Orca sightings (▲) in the Firth of Thames & Coromandel region, 1994 – 2008 (provided by R. Chappell, Department of Conservation, Auckland). Plotted using MapSource and BlueChart Pacific v9.5.

Life History

Female killer whales live to a maximum of about 80 to 90 years, attaining sexual maturity at between 11 and 16 years, and reaching reproductive senescence at about 40 years (Ford 2002). Males on the other hand, reach sexual maturity at about 15 years but are thought to live to a maximum of 50 to 60 years.

Gestation in killer whales lasts for about 15 to 18 months, with weaning of young at about 1 or 2 years. Calving intervals can be around 5 years, thus each reproductive female may produce 5 or 6 calves over a 25 year reproductive span.

Behaviour

Killer whales in New Zealand appear to forage on rays, sharks, fin-fish and other cetaceans (Visser 2000). Their habit of benthic foraging for rays appears to be unique world-wide (Visser 1999b).

3.4 Bryde's whale – Balaenoptera edeni/brydei

Status & threats

- Global: data deficient⁸.
- New Zealand: nationally critical (secure overseas, data poor).

⁸ Cetacean Specialist Group 1996. *Balaenoptera edeni*. In: IUCN 2007. 2007 IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. <<u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>>. Downloaded on 04 May 2008.

Though considered 'nationally critical', internationally, Bryde's whales are considered data deficient; primarily due to difficulties in determining precisely how many species and populations exisit (Reeves et al. 2003). B. edeni is the pygmy form of Bryde's whale which rarely exceeds 11.5m in length, whereas B. brydei is the ordinary form reaching between 14.6m (males) and 15.6m (females) in length. A third species, B. omurai, was described in 2003, further adding to the taxanomic confusion (Jefferson et al. 2008); though it should be noted this species' distribution is not thought to overlap with New Zealand waters. Suisted & Neale (2004) list B. edeni as being present in New Zealand waters, however Hitchmough et al. (2005) acknowledge that either form could be present. Lloyd (2003) also acknowledges a degree of uncertainty as to which form has suffered entanglement mortality in mussel spat collection ropes (see below), while Lloyd (2003) and O'Callaghan & Baker (2002) note that B. brydei is more likely to be the form present in New Zealand waters. Recently analysed genetic data suggest the Bryde's whales encountered in the Hauraki Gulf are the common offshore form, B. brydei (Wiseman et al. 2005). Baker & Madon (2007) also refer to B. brydei in their summary of distribution in the Hauraki Gulf and northeastern New Zealand.

Bryde's whales are still killed by some artisanal whalers, and recently by the Japanese in the North Pacific. Indeed, Japan has expressed an interest in resuming commercial whaling of the species (Reeves et al. 2003); and Bryde's whale meat has been confirmed as being on sale in Japan and South Korea (Baker et al. 2000). Elsewhere, habitat modification and noise disturbance are considered the most serious threats (Jefferson et al. 2008).

Bryde's whales in New Zealand waters are susceptible to boat strike (Wiseman et al. 2003; Baker & Madon 2007), tourism-related impacts, and entanglement. Behrens and Constantine (2008) reviewed stranding data held at the Museum of New Zealand (Te Papa Tongarewa) and Department of Conservation. They found that between 1989 and 2007, 13 out of 38 Bryde's whale carcasses reported from northern New Zealand or just over one third, were confirmed or suspected to have died from ship strike injuries. Lloyd (2003) reports that since 1996 two Bryde's whales have reportedly died as a result of entanglement in mussel spat collection ropes.

Distribution

Bryde's whales in New Zealand waters appear to be most common in the Hauraki Gulf (Suisted & Neale, 2004), but can be seen along the entire northeastern coast of New Zealand from Hauraki Gulf to North Cape (Baker & Madon 2007). Baker & Madon (2007) suggest that sightings in the Gulf tend to be higher during spring and summer months. Additionally, Bryde's whales are seen regularly in the Firth of Thames (Du Fresne 2006), though unfortunately the recent surveys of Baker & Madon (2007) only extended as far south as Thumb Point (Waiheke Island), so there are no systematic distribution data for the Firth.

Other reports suggest Bryde's whales can be encountered in the Northland (Constantine 1999) and Bay of Plenty regions. Bryde's whales are not known to undertake large migrations, but in temperate waters they appear to make local, seasonal movements. Repeated sightings of some individually identified whales in the Hauraki Gulf indicate that at least some animals are semi-resident in this area (Wiseman et al. 2005).

Bryde's whales sighted from a tour vessel operating in the Hauraki Gulf during summer 2000/01 were mostly seen individually and in loose aggregations (O'Callaghan & Baker 2002). They were sighted mostly around the 40m depth contour, often during feeding behaviours. Baker & Madon (2007) concluded that whale densities were highest in the inner part of the Gulf, in waters warmer than 14°C.

From 2001 to 2006, Wiseman (2008) conducted a number of boat-based surveys of Bryde's whales in the Hauraki Gulf. Open and closed population estimates of 46 and 159 (respectively) indicate a potentially small population, with an unclear degree of isolation. The Bryde's whales in this area are probably part of an open population (Wiseman 2008), but there are currently no population estimates for the wider northern New Zealand population (Behrens and Constantine 2008).

Life History

Sexual maturity is reached at length 11-11.4m (males) and 11.6-11.8m (females); corresponding to an average age of about 7 years (Kato 2002).

Baker & Madon (2007) suggest that calving likely occurs in late winter and early spring, either in New Zealand waters or the nearby oceanic Pacific. Gestation periods are about 11 months, with an average reproductive cycle of 2 years (Kato 2002).

Behaviour

Baker & Madon (2007) observed small pods of Bryde's whales feeding primarily on small fish, but speculate that crustaceans also form part of their diet. Baker & Madon (2007) also observed common dolphins, bottlenose dolphins, gannets, shearwaters, petrels and terns associating with Bryde's whales during feeding bouts. Travelling Bryde's whales were usually seen singly (Baker & Madon 2007).

3.5 Beaked whales (various species)

Status & threats

- Global: predominantly data deficient.
- New Zealand: data deficient⁹.

The beaked whales have been considered as one group here for two reasons: 1) little is known about most beaked whale species, especially with specific reference to New Zealand waters; and 2) conservation issues for most species are likely to be similar. There are currently 21 recognised species of beaked whales, all belonging to the family Ziphiidae (Jefferson et al. 2008). Beaked whales of the genus *Mesoplodon* (of which there are 14, including Gray's beaked whale; Hector's beaked whale; and the straptoothed beaked whale – see table 1) are the most poorly-known of all the large mammals (Jefferson et al. 2008), with many listed as 'data deficient' by IUCN.

Conservation issues for beaked whales include ship-strike; accumulation of biocontaminants; entanglement in deep-water gillnets; ingestion of debris; and sensitivity to underwater noise (such as Naval sonar exercises) which have been implicated in mass mortality and stranding events (Cox et al. 2006; MacLeod & Mitchell 2006; Jefferson et al. 2008).

Distribution

Distribution data for beaked whales are generally sparse, with few at-sea sightings. Table 2 summarises all beaked whales with known or suspected distributions that overlap with New Zealand waters (taken from Jefferson et al. 2008). New Zealand appears to be a stronghold of beaked whales and is especially known as having high numbers of Gray's beaked whale (Dalebout et al. 2004; Jefferson et al. 2008). New Zealand was recently identified as having the highest diversity out of 23 key areas globally for beaked whales, with records confirming at least 11 species from five genera (Macleod & Mitchell 2006).

⁹ Especially: Gray's beaked whale; Hector's beaked whale; Straptooth whale; Southern bottlenose whale.

Table 2:	Beaked v	whales	with	known	or	suspected	distribution	overlap	with	New
	Zealand	waters ((Jeffe	rson et	al.	2008).				

Common name	Scientific Name	Distribution
Arnoux's beaked whale	Berardius arnuxii	Circumpolar, mostly south of 40°S
Cuvier's beaked whale	Ziphius cavirostris	All oceans from tropics to polar waters
Southern bottlenose whale	Hyperoodon planifrons	Circumpolar, south of 30°S, esp. 57°S - 70°S
Shepherd's beaked whale	Tasmacetus shepherdi	Circumpolar, temperate, south of 30°S
Blainville's beaked whale	Mesoplodon densirostris	Temperate and tropical waters, all oceans
Gray's beaked whale	Mesoplodon grayi	Circumpolar, cool temperate, south of 30°S. 'Hotspot' between NZ and Chatham Islands
Ginko-toothed beaked whale	Mesoplodon ginkodens	Temperate and tropical waters of Indo- Pacific
Hector's beaked whale	Mesoplodon hectori	Possibly circumpolar, cool temperate
True's beaked whale	Mesoplodon mirus	Possibly circumpolar, cool temperate
Strap-toothed beaked whale	Mesoplodon layardii	Circumpolar, cold temperate, 35°S - 60°S
Andrew's beaked whale	Mesoplodon bowdoini	Circumpolar, cool temperate, 32°S - 55°S (over half of stranding records from NZ).
Spade-toothed beaked whale	Mesoplodon traversii	Poorly known but possibly circumpolar, south of 30°S

Life History

The few data on life history characteristics of beaked whales come primarily from stranded animals and whale fisheries, and were recently summarized by MacLeod & D'Amico (2006). While maximum ages of 84 years (male) and 54 years (female) have been recorded, other recorded ages have ranged from 27 to 39 years. Sexual maturity seems to occur between 7 and 15 years, while gestation can last from 12 to 17 months.

Behaviour

MacLeod & D'Amico (2006) provide a comprehensive review on various behavioural aspects of beaked whales. Group sizes seem to be 1-20 individuals for many species (e.g. *Mesoplodon* spp.); while groups of up to 100 have been recorded for Longman's beaked whale and *Berardius* spp. Beaked whales are generally thought of as long and deep divers, spending much of their time underwater. Indeed, occurrence of beaked whales is often linked to seabed features such as slopes, canyons, escarpments and oceanic islands. Given their diving behaviour and apparent habitat preferences, it is perhaps not surprising that cephalopods (e.g. squid) and other deep water species (below 200m) are preferred prey items.

3.6 Known stranding events in the Firth of Thames

While stranding data do not necessarily reflect habitat usage, especially in the case of beachcast animals (those that have washed up dead), they can none-the-less provide a useful indication of the make-up of regional species assemblages. The data in Table 3 were provided by D. Steel (formerly Unversity of Auckland; currently Oregon State University) and R. Chappell (Department of Conservation, Auckland).

Table 3:	Cetacean strandings in the Firth of Thames, 1993 – 2008.	
Table 3:	Cetacean strandings in the Firth of Thames, 1993 – 2008.	

Common name	Scientific name	Date	Location
Bryde's whale	Balaenoptera edeni	Mid-late 1994	Firth of Thames
Bryde's whale	Balaenoptera edeni	18 Nov 1995	Firth of Thames
Bryde's whale	Balaenoptera edeni	07 Nov 1997	Miranda
Bryde's whale	Balaenoptera edeni	07 Nov 1997	Miranda
Bryde's whale	Balaenoptera edeni	30 Aug 2004	Between Waitakaruru and Kaiaua
Bryde's whale	Balaenoptera edeni	23 Jun 2005	Colville Bay
Common dolphin	Delphinus delphis	24 Dec 2004	Te Kouma
Common dolphin	Delphinus delphis	23 Apr 2005	Between Waikawau and Te Mata
Common dolphin	Delphinus delphis	03 Jul 2005	Brickfield Bay
Common dolphin	Delphinus delphis	19 Sep 2005	Te Puru
Common dolphin	Delphinus delphis	03 Han 2006	Waitete Bay
Gray's beaked whale	Mesoplodonn grayi	21 Feb 2005	Waikawau Bay
Hector's beaked whale	Mesoplodon hectori	02 Feb 2007	Port Jackson
Long finned pilot whale	Globicephala melas	30 Oct 1997	Kawakawa
Long finned pilot whale	Globicephala melas	05 Jun 2005	Miranda
Long finned pilot whale	Globicephala melas	02 Feb 2007	East of Orere Point
Southern bottlenose whale	Hyperoodon planifrons	07 Dec 1994	Firth of Thames
Southern bottlenose whale	Hyperoodon planifrons	04 Jan 2005	Miranda
Southern bottlenose whale	Hyperoodon planifrons	04 Jan 2005	Miranda
Southern minke whale	Balaenoptera bonaerensis	12 Aug 2005	Motutapere Island
Straptooth whale	Mesoplodon layardii	30 May 1995	Kaiaua
Straptooth whale	Mesoplodon layardii	05 June 1997	Thames
Straptooth whale	Mesoplodon layardii	11 July 2001	Firth of Thames
Pygmy sperm whale	Kogia breviceps	26 Mar 2006	Thames
Pygmy sperm whale	Kogia breviceps	26 Mar 2006	Thames

These data (combined with various sighting reports) indicate that many cetaceans from the wider Hauraki Gulf area venture into the Firth of Thames.

3.7 Species known from Hauraki Gulf

In addition to the various species known to utilise the Firth of Thames, several other marine mammal species have been seen in the neighbouring waters of Hauraki Gulf, and could potentially visit the waters of the Firth occasionally. These species are summarised in the table below.

Table 4:	Other marine mammal species known to occur in Hauraki Gulf (Du Fresne
	2006); their conservation status (IUCN ¹⁰ ; Hitchmough et al. 2005) and
	known threats (Jefferson et al. 2008).

Common	Scientific Name	Statu	Threats	
Name		Global	New Zealand	
New Zealand fur seal	Arctocephalus forsteri	Lower risk/least concern	Not threatened	Entanglement (fisheries), tourism interactions
Humpback whale	Megaptera novaeangliae	Vulnerable	Migrant	Entanglement, ship strike, habitat destruction, climate change
Southern right whale	Eubalaena australis	Lower risk/conservation dependent	Nationally endangered	Fisheries interactions, ship strike
Southern right whale dolpin	Lissodelphis peronii	Data deficient	Not threatened	Directed catch and bycatch in some areas of the world
Pilot whales	<i>Globicephala</i> sp.	Lower risk/conservation dependent	Not threatened	Bycatch
Minke whale (dwarf form of common, Antarctic)	Balaenoptera acutorostrata/ bonaerensis	Lower risk, but near threatened for common form	Not threatened (common), migrant (Antarctic)	Directed catch, entanglement, ship strike
False killer whale	Pseudorca crassidens	Lower risk/least concern	Not threatened	Incidental catch, other fisheries interactions

4

Potential effects of finfish farming on marine mammals of the Firth of Thames

Fin-fish farming in New Zealand has focussed almost exclusively on Chinook salmon. There are three areas where such farms can be found: Marlborough Sounds (where there are four operational farms); Akaroa Harbour; and Stewart Island. In all three regions, farms have experienced some level of interaction with New Zealand fur seals, including cage damage and predation (Kemper et al. 2003). New Zealand fur seals are occasional visitors to the Hauraki Gulf area, but there are no known colonies or rookeries. The likely frequency of interactions between fur seals and fin-fish farms in the Firth of Thames is therefore small. In comparison, interactions with dolphins are minimal, and there appear to be no known New Zealand cases of interactions with large whales.

Overseas, documented cases of interactions between cetaceans and finfish farms occur mainly in Australia (Kemper & Gibbs 2001; Kemper et al. 2003) and Chile (Heinrich & Hammond 2006). These interactions are generally negative, and include lethal entanglements, habitat exclusion and illegal shooting. The potential for positive interactions such as increased prey near fish farms is recognised, but these are much harder to quantify. The most likely positive interactions will come from fish aggregations that result from waste feed. Localised increases in fish abundance have been demonstrated for coastal fin-fish farms (e.g. Dempster et al. 2004; Machias et al. 2004). Such a food source may attract dolphins to the area, and this has been

¹⁰ Information downloaded from <u>www.iucnredlist.org</u> 13 May 2008.

previously hypothesised (Kemper & Gibbs 2001) but not yet proven (Kemper et al. 2003).

Thus, three main (potential) effects of finfish aquaculture on marine mammals will be considered: entanglement; habitat exclusion; and a possible indirect effect of vessel disturbance (ship strike, underwater noise) as a result of increased boat traffic around farm sites. Positive effects such as attraction to a food source (which could potentially increase exposure to negative effects such as entanglement) are not considered here, as no supporting evidence was found in the literature. Each effect will be discussed in detail, including supporting data and/or evidence from New Zealand and overseas. In addition, those species considered most vulnerable to the various potential impacts will be listed.

4.1 Entanglement

4.1.1 Description of effect

The entanglement of cetaceans in fishing gear is a well documented phenomenon, resulting in some 300,000 cetacean mortalities per year (Read et al. 2006). In comparison there are relatively few documented instances of cetacean entanglement in marine farms. In New Zealand two Bryde's whales have reportedly died after becoming entangled in mussel spat collection lines (Lloyd 2003). In the case of small cetaceans (dolphins) it is generally accepted that provided farms are well maintained, the risk entanglement is probably low (Lloyd 2003; and see discussion below).

Entanglement in mussel farms is a concern for large cetacean species such as the baleen whales, particularly as the recent trend in New Zealand coastal waters is to develop large, offshore farms which can overlap with migratory paths of humpback and southern right whales. Lloyd (2003) concludes that planned increases in mussel farms within Bryde's whale range will probably lead to further entanglement-induced mortality. Such conclusions are not without basis: entanglement of baleen whales such as right whales and humpback whales is well documented (Clapham et al. 1999; Knowlton & Kraus 2001).

Fish farms can often be targeted by pinnipeds such as the New Zealand fur seal, resulting in predation of stock and net damage. As a result, it is common for farms to install predator nets to prevent access to fish stock and farm structures (figure 3). However, these nets can result in entanglements of cetaceans. While fur seals are not abundant in the Hauraki Gulf/Firth of Thames region, predator nets should be installed as occasional interactions with seals and other predators are still likely to occur.

In Australia, bottlenose and short-beaked common dolphins have become fatally entangled in predator nets of tuna feed lots (Kemper & Gibbs 2001) and salmon farms (Kemper et al. 2003). Between 1990 and 1999, 29 dolphins were fatally entangled in southern blue-fin tuna lots, with several additional suspected deaths occurring during the same period (Kemper & Gibbs 2001). The authors concluded that dolphins were being attracted to and feeding in, the area of the cages. Their recommendations for minimising entanglements included reducing mesh size of predator nets to less than 8cm and reducing tuna food waste and therefore the food source for other fish in the area.

Several fatal entanglements of common bottlenose dolphins (five reported up to 2000) and short-beaked common dolphins (four reported up to 2000) have occurred in salmon farms in Tasmania (Kemper et al. 2003). The entanglements may have occurred where anti-predator nets were not enclosed at the bottom, allowing dolphins to become trapped between nets and fish pens. Entanglements typically occurred in anti-predator nets with mesh size greater than 6cm.

Fatal entanglements of bottlenose dolphins have also occurred in fin-fish farms on the north-eastern coast of Sardinia, Italy (Díaz López & Bernal Shirai 2007). Once again, the nets in question had a 15cm mesh size and were quite loose in the water column.

In New Zealand, there have been three known cases where cetaceans have died as a result of entanglement or entrapment in salmon farm anti-predator nets. They all occurred in the Marlborough Sounds (M. Aviss & B. Cash, Department of Conservation, Picton, and A. Baxter, Department of Conservation, Nelson, pers. comm.): two in 1999 and one in 2005. The two cases in 1999 were both dusky dolphins, and happened at the same salmon farm. Operational practices for changing predator nets have since been improved to reduce the chance of this happening again. Previously, each fish cage had its own separate predator net, whereas now the farms use all encompassing 'mega-nets', which are thought to be far less likely to result in a cetacean entanglement (figure 3). In the other case (which occurred in February 2005), a Hector's dolphin became trapped under a predator net, though the carcass was not retrieved and therefore cause of death not determined.



Figure 3: Predator nets around Salmon farms, Marlborough Sounds (photos courtesy of Grant Hopkins, Cawthron Institute).

In general, cetacean entanglement risk can be minimised by enclosing predator nets at the bottom; keeping nets taut; using mesh size <6cm; and keeping nets well maintained (e.g. repairing holes immediately). Reducing feed waste as much as possible will also limit fish aggregations near farms, which may reduce the amount of time dolphins are likely to spend near fish farms. Such practices are already largely adopted by the New Zealand industry, in addition to operational procedures for changing nets that are designed to further minimise cetacean entanglement risk.

There have been no known entanglements of marine mammals in New Zealand since changes to net design and net changing protocols were introduced, suggesting that the risk has been reduced to very small levels, if not eliminated entirely. It should still be recognised however that entanglement (particularly of small cetaceans) is a bigger risk in fin-fish farm predator nets than mussel farms. Other forms of fisheries-related entanglements threaten the viability of Hector's and Maui's dolphins (Dawson & Slooten 2005; Slooten et al. 2006). The same cannot currently be said for entanglement in fin-fish farms, the risk of which appears to be well managed by industry. However, should cetacean entanglements increase at any point in the future, it may become necessary to independently monitor and audit predator net design and maintenance practices.

4.1.2 Species likely to be affected – entanglement

There are very few reported large cetacean (whales) interactions with finfish farms (but see Kemper & Gibbs 2001; Kemper et al. 2003). Therefore, the species most likely to be affected by entanglement in the Firth of Thames are common dolphins and bottlenose dolphins. This is in contrast to mussel farms, where it is generally thought that large whales are at greater risk.

4.2 Habitat exclusion

4.2.1 Description

In parts of Chile, spatial overlap between mariculture and small cetaceans is extensive (Heinrich & Hammond 2006), with some authors reporting that Chilean dolphins may now be excluded by salmon farms from bays and fiords they traditionally used (Reeves et al. 2003). It is worth noting that Chile is second only to Norway in production levels of salmonids (Kemper et al. 2003), and farm overlap with cetaceans and direct competition for space in New Zealand should be significantly less at the present time.

Indirect exclusion of cetaceans from areas containing fish farms can occur through use of acoustic harassment devices (AHDs), which are generally used to dissuade pinnipeds (e.g. fur seals) from feeding on farm stock. Exclusion has been reported for killer whales (Morton & Symonds 2002) and harbour porpoise (Olesuik et al. 2002). AHDs have been trialled in New Zealand, with a built-in attenuation programme designed to reduce the amplitude and intensity of the signal, thereby minimising potential displacement of cetaceans. These trials were abandoned when, after some initial success, pinnipeds appeared to become habituated to the devices. Some authors have suggested that AHDs could act as a 'dinner bell', alerting animals to the presence of a food source (Würsig & Gailey 2002). AHDs are currently not in use in New Zealand finfish farms.

Currently, displacement of cetaceans by fish-farming activities seems to be unlikely in New Zealand waters. The scale of fin-fish farming in New Zealand is small compared to countries such as Chile and Norway, and while there is some overlap with cetacean habitat, very little of this occurs in what may be described as 'critical habitat'. Should the scale of fin-fish farming undergo a significant increase in New Zealand waters, this situation may change. With any expansion of marine farming activities, it is important to choose the location of farms carefully, so as to minimise the potential for displacement. Similarly, should AHDs be adopted at any point in the future, care will be needed to avoid displacement of cetaceans.

Compared to mussel farms, habitat exclusion resulting from fish farms is more absolute. In the case of mussel farms, small cetaceans can still enter farm areas and swim between lines, and have often been observed to do so. Such relatively free access does not necessarily mean there are no habitat effects though. In the case of dusky dolphins in Admiralty Bay, it is thought that mussel farms may interfere with the coordinated feeding behaviour of the dolphins (Markowitz et al. 2004; Vaughn et al. 2007). Therefore, even though dolphins are not excluded *per se* from farm areas, it may represent sub-optimal habitat that they utilise less frequently.

While there are no other examples of cases in New Zealand where mussel farms are known or suspected to result in habitat exclusion for marine mammals, there have been no before-after/control-impact studies done to investigate habitat exclusion of marine mammals by marine farms.

4.2.2 Species likely to be affected – habitat exclusion

Any species that is known or suspected to utilise the same area as is used for aquaculture may by affected by habitat exclusion. Thus all of the marine mammal species known or suspected to utilise the Firth of Thames should be considered at risk from habitat exclusion by finfish farms. However, the scale of potential fish farm development in the Firth of Thames (75 hectares) is a small part of potential habitat. This could still cause negative impacts if it was known to be an area that was particularly critical for a species, such as for feeding or breeding. While the Firth is almost certainly used by some species for such activities, they are not thought to do so exclusively, or with high levels of residency (though this could be addressed with some baseline monitoring – see section 6 below). Therefore, while exclusion from habitat occupied by fin-fish farms is highly likely, the overall impact should be minor.

4.3 Vessel disturbance – ship strike & underwater noise

4.3.1 Description

Further aquaculture development in the Firth of Thames may result in an increased volume of boat traffic. This has the potential to affect cetaceans in two ways: vessel strikes and impacts of underwater noise.

Vessel strikes are a documented risk to cetaceans in the Hauraki Gulf (Baker & Madon 2007). The large whales such as humpbacks, southern right whales and Bryde's whales are all clearly susceptible to vessel strike (Laist et al. 2001; Baker & Madon 2007). However, boat strike is also a risk for smaller cetaceans (e.g. Hector's dolphin; Stone & Yoshinaga 2000). Historical records show that whales struck by vessels travelling at 13-15 knots or faster, are more likely to be killed or suffer severe injury (Laist et al. 2001).

In addition to boat strikes, vessel traffic associated with aquaculture has the potential to increase the amount of underwater noise that marine mammals are exposed to. Marine mammals rely heavily on sound to interpret their environment and it has been suggested their acoustically sensitive ears are especially vulnerable to noise disturbance (Reeves 1992) or the disruption of communication signals. There have been a range of observed responses of cetacean species to noise disturbance from displacement (Morton & Symonds 2002), to avoidance (Williams et al. 2002a,b), increased dive time and shortened surface intervals (Richardson et al. 1985) and changes in underwater acoustic behaviour (Foote et al. 2004).

The key to mitigation of vessel disturbance, the most obvious of which is ship strike, is to slow vessels to speeds unlikely to cause injury or death should as collision occur; and minimise the overlap of shipping channels with known marine mammal habitat (Laist et al. 2001; Merrick & Cole 2007).

4.3.2 Species likely to be affected – ship strike

Large whales are most likely to be affected by ship strike, but any slow-moving species that spends a great deal of time at or near the surface will be susceptible (Clapham et al. 1999). All species may be affected by vessel noise.

5 Risk and ecological consequences of identified effects

This section considers the likely risk of the identified effects from section 4, and the ecological consequences to those species most vulnerable to each. In determining possible ecological consequences, the conservation status, distribution and relevant ecological characteristics of each species or species group are considered. Table 5 (below) summarises the differences in impacts between mussel and fish farms.

5.1 Entanglement

The New Zealand aquaculture industry appears to be managing the risk of entanglement of marine mammals in predator nets (see section 4.1.1 and figure 3). Consequently, the risk of entanglement is currently considered low. However, because of its potential direct and negative affect, it needs to be carefully monitored as finfish aquaculture expands. The risk of entanglement in mussel farms is low for small cetaceans, and higher for whales. However the current overlap of mussel farms with whale habitat and migratory routes is low but likely to expand in the future.

Small cetaceans (mainly common and bottlenose dolphins) and seals are most at risk from entanglement. While neither bottlenose or common dolphins are considered endangered nationally, and are secure overseas, additional impacts such as entanglement (should it occur) would need to be considered alongside other known threats or causes of mortality, such as tourism pressure and bycatch, both of which are known threats for common dolphins in the region. The risk of seal entanglement is probably lower than that of dolphins, because of the low number of seals in the Hauraki Gulf, and should be mitigated through the same measures that have been adopted in other areas. However this risk could increase if rookeries and/or colonies are established in the Firth of Thames.

5.2 Habitat exclusion

The species most at risk from habitat exclusion are those that are known to utilise the area in which the marine farms may be established. In the Firth of Thames these include (but might not be limited to) common and bottlenose dolphins, killer whales, and Bryde's whales. In considering the risk factor and ecological consequence, it is reasonable to assume that if marine farms are placed in marine mammal habitat, the risk of habitat exclusion is high. Habitat exclusion by fish farms differs to that by mussel farms in that it is absolute. However in the case of mussel farms this may give a perception that the impact is minimal or non-existent, when in fact disturbance (if not full exclusion) has still occurred.

However, measuring habitat exclusion will be difficult, and is currently hampered by a lack of systematic marine mammal surveys in the Firth of Thames region. Furthermore, and importantly, determining the biological significance of displacement (e.g. reduced reproductive success) is even harder. The best possible approach towards mitigation is to avoid placing marine farms in areas of key marine mammal habitat. This could include areas known to be used for foraging and nursery areas. Whether such areas exist in the Firth is not yet known and could be addressed with appropriately designed surveys.

5.3 Vessel disturbance

Vessel strike is a documented risk for species such as Bryde's whales in the Hauraki Gulf. In general, large whales and any other slow-moving species that spends a lot of time at or near the water surface may be at risk. All species will be affected by vessel noise, and the relative risk compared to that associated with mussel farms smilar.

The magnitude of this risk will be determined in part by the level to which boat traffic in the Firth increases, and by the safe boating practices employed by the vessels' crew. Establishing designated vessel routes and safe transit areas for marine mammals, in addition to vessel speed restrictions would help to mitigate the issue of ship strike, should it become problematic. Speed restrictions would also help to reduce effects of vessel noise.

Effect	Mussel Farms	Fish Farms	Difference	Context of Impact
Entanglement	Large whales may become entangled in mussel lines. Small whales, dolphins and seals unlikely to become entangled.	Dolphins and seals may become entangled in exclusion nets. Large whales unlikely to become entangled.	Increased risk of entanglement for dolphins and seals.	Entanglement risk is currently well managed, and provided this continues it should continue to be a low risk.
Exclusion	Large whales may be excluded by the presence of mussel lines. Small whales, dolphins and seals can maintain access, but disturbance may affect their use of the area.	All mammals are physically excluded.	Total exclusion of area in fish farms due to predator nets.	On its own, complete exclusion of marine mammals from 75 Ha of Wilson Bay is unlikely to have a significant impact on marine mammals. However, the compounding effects of all activities, which exclude marine mammals, will need to be carefully managed.
Vessel strikes	Tends to affect large, slow moving, species that spend long periods on the surface. Small cetaceans are known to be at risk from fast-moving vessels.	Tends to affect large, slow moving, species that spend long periods on the surface. Small cetaceans are known to be at risk from fast-moving vessels.	No change, assuming similar frequencies of vessel movements and types of vessel.	Vessel strikes would need to be considered alongside the extent and impact of strikes in the neighbouring Hauraki Gulf, but could be minimised through careful planning of vessel lanes and speed restrictions.
Noise	Can affect all cetacean species	Can affect all cetacean species	No change, assuming similar frequencies of vessel movements and types of vessel.	Underwater noise can result in habitat exclusion, and can mask communication signals or cause temporary/permanent hearing loss. Such affects are more likely to result from chronic exposure to high noise, e.g. from high-speed boats.

Table 5:Summary of impacts associated with aquaculture; and the differences
between mussel and fish farms.

6 Research recommendations

For many of the identified impacts discussed here, a thorough risk assessment is hampered by the lack of systematic survey data describing the usage of the Firth of Thames by marine mammals. While a number of species clearly utilise the Firth as part of their home range, the relative importance of the Firth compared with neighbouring areas such as the Hauraki Gulf is not known. For example, while habitat exclusion resulting from fish farms is probably a small risk with low impact, given that the proposed area of 75 ha is a tiny fraction of the overall Firth of Thames, impacts could be higher if this happened to be an area which was critical feeding and/or breeding habitat, for example.

Thus it is strongly recommended that systematic surveys of the Firth be conducted. These surveys should consider all potential aquaculture areas, in addition to likely routes for boat traffic servicing the farms. Aerial surveys could be a useful monitoring tool, in that large areas can be covered relatively quickly. Fine-grained habitat use could be provided by a combination of boat surveys, cliff-top surveys (if there are appropriate sites), and acoustic surveys (e.g. using acoustic data loggers).

Results from baseline surveys will help to determine to what extent monitoring studies are required, and will help to guide mitigation, should this be deemed necessary. Mitigation options could include clearly defining shipping lanes and speed restrictions to minimize ship strike and noise disturbance; placing farms away from any identified critical habitat; and adopting similar practices concerning predator net design and feed waste minimisation.

7 Conclusions

This report has identified three main areas of risk to marine mammals that may result from finfish aquaculture in the Firth of Thames. In general, the aquaculture industry in New Zealand has taken a proactive and apparently successful approach to minimising entanglement risk. The operational practices adopted by operations in areas such as the Marlborough Sounds concerning design and maintenance of predator nets, and minimising feed waste would be recommended for the Firth of Thames. This is particularly important, given that entanglement seems to be a greater risk for small cetaceans in fish farms compared to mussel farms.

The other risk areas of habitat exclusion and vessel disturbance currently require more robust data to properly address them. In general, what little information there is on marine mammals in the Firth of Thames comes from opportunistic and anecdotal sources, making robust risk assessment difficult. Such research will be especially important to address habitat exclusion, which tends to be absolute compared to mussel farms. Ship strikes are a clear risk in the high traffic areas of Hauraki Gulf. For some species such as Bryde's whales that seem especially vulnerable, even small incidences of ship strike resulting from increased boat traffic in the Firth would be compounding existing impacts. The potential risk and associated impacts associated with vessel disturbance is the same for both mussel and fish farming, if the level of boat traffic and types of vessels are similar.

For both habitat exclusion and vessel disturbance there are clear paths towards mitigation that can be taken, should this be necessary. Given the high marine mammal diversity of the neighbouring Hauraki Gulf and the apparent importance of this area to whales and dolphins, baseline and operational monitoring programmes would be justified to more thoroughly address these issues.

References

Baker, A.N. and Madon, B. 2007: Bryde's whales (*Balaenoptera* cf. *brydei* Olsen 1913) in the Hauraki Gulf and northeastern New Zealand waters. *Science for Conservation 272*. Department of Conservation, Wellington, New Zealand. 23p.

Baker, C.S.; Lento, G.M.; Cipriano, F. and Palumbi, S.R. 2000: Predicted decline of protected whales based on molecular genetic monitoring of Japanese and Korean markets. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London Series B-Biological Sciences* 267(1449): 1191-1199.

Barros, N.B and Odell, D.K. 1990: Food habits of bottlenose dolphins in the southeastern United States. Pp 309 – 328 in Leatherwood, S; Reeves, R.R. (Eds.): *The Bottlenose Dolphin*. Academic Press, London.

Bearzi, G.; Politi, E.; Agazzi, S. and Azzellino, A. 2006: Prey depletion caused by overfishing and the decline of marine megafauna in eastern Ionian Sea coastal waters (central Mediterranean). *Biological Conservation 127*: 373-382.

Behrens, S.; Constantine, R. 2008. Large Whale and Vessel Collisions in Northern New Zealand. Paper SC/60/BC9. IWC, Santiago, Chile, 2008. 14p.

Bejder, L.; Dawson, S.M. and Harraway, J.A. 1999: Responses by Hector's dolphins to boats and swimmers in Porpoise Bay, New Zealand. *Marine Mammal Science 15(3)*: 738-750.

Bejder, L.; Samuels, A.; Whitehead, H.; Gales, N.; Mann, J.; Connor, R.; Heithaus, M.; Watson-Capps, J.; Flaherty, C. and Krutzen, M. 2006: Decline in Relative Abundance of Bottlenose Dolphins Exposed to Long-Term Disturbance. *Conservation Biology*: doi: 10.1111/j.1523-1739.2006.00540.x.

Blanco, C.; Salomon, O. and Raga, J.A. 2001: Diet of the bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) in the western Mediterranean Sea. *Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 81*: 1053-1058.

Boisseau, O.J. 2003: A summary of research conducted on the bottlenose dolphins of Fiordland, Department of Conservation, Southland Conservancy, Invercargill, New Zealand: 34.

Clapham, P.J.; Young S.B. and Brownell , R.L..Jr. 1999: Baleen whales: conservation issues and the status of the most endangered populations. *Mammal Review* 29(1): 37-62

Cockcroft, V.G. and Ross, G.J.B. 1990: Food and feeding of the Indian Ocean bottlenose dolphin off southern Natal, South Africa. Pp 295 – 308. In: Leatherwood, S. and R.R. Reeves (eds.) *The Bottlenose Dolphin*. Academic Press, London. 658 p.

Connor, R.C.; Wells, R.S.; Mann, J. and Read, A.J. 2000: *The Bottlenose Dolphin. Cetacean Societies - Field Studies of Dolphins and Whales.* J. Mann, R. C. Connor, P. L. Tyack and H. Whitehead. Chicago, University of Chicago Press: 91-126.

Constantine, R. 1999: *Effects of Tourism on Marine Mammals in New Zealand.* Science for Conservation 106. Department of Conservation, Wellington, NZ: 60.

Constantine, R. 2001: Increased avoidance of swimmers by wild bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) due to long-term exposure to swim-with- dolphin tourism. *Marine Mammal Science* 17(4): 689-702.

Constantine, R. 2002: The Behavioural Ecology of the Bottlenose Dolphins (*Tursiops truncatus*) of Northeastern New Zealand: A Population Exposed to Tourism, University of Auckland. Doctor of Philosophy in Biological Sciences: 195.

Constantine, R.;.Brunton, D.H. and Dennis, T. 2004: Dolphin-watching tour boats change bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) behaviour. *Biological Conservation* 117: 299-307.

Cox, T.M.; Ragen, T.J.; Read, A.J.; Vos, E.; Baird, R.W; Balcomb, K.; Barlow, J.; Caldwell J.; Cranford, T.; Crum, L.; D'Amico, A.; .D'Spain, G.; Fernandez, A.; Finneran, J.; Gentry, R.; Gerth, W.; Gulland, F.; Hildebrand, J.; Houserp, D.; Hullar, T.; Jepson, P.D.; Ketten, D.; Macleod, C.D.; Miller, P.; Moore, S.; Mountain, D.C.; Palka, D.; Ponganis, P.; Rommel, S.; Rowles, R.; Taylor, B.; Tyack, P.; Wartzok, D.; Gisiner, R.; Meads, J. and Benner, L. 2006: Understanding the impacts of anthropogenic sound on beaked whales. *Journal of Cetacean Research and Management* 7(3): 177-187.

Currey, R.J.C.; Dawson, S.M. and Slooten, E. 2007: New abundance estimates suggest Doubtful Sound bottlenose dolphins are declining. *Pacific Conservation Biology* 13: 265-273.

Dalebout, M.L.; Russell, K.G.; Little M.J. and Ensor, P. 2004: Observations of live Gray's beaked whales (*Mesoplodon grayi*) in Mahurangi Harbour, North Island, New Zealand, with a summary of at-sea sightings. *Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand* 34(4): 347–356.

Dawson, S. and Slooten, E. 2005: Management of gillnet bycatch of cetaceans in New Zealand. *Journal of Cetacean Research and Management* 7(1): 59-64.

Dempster, T.; Sanchez-Jerez, P.; Bayle-Sempere, J. and Kingsford, M. 2004: Extensive aggregations of wild fish at coastal sea-cage fish farms. *Hydrobiologia* 525(1-3): 245–248.

Díaz López, B. and Bernal Shirai, J.A. 2007: Bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) presence and incidental capture in a marine fish farm on the north-eastern coast of Sardinia (Italy). *Journal Of The Marine Biological Association Of The United Kingdom* 87: 113–117.

Du Fresne, S. P.; Grant, A.R.; Norden, W.S. and Pierre, J.P. 2007: *Factors Affecting Cetacean Bycatch in a New Zealand Trawl Fishery*, DOC Research & Development Series 282. Department of Conservation, Wellington: 18.

Ford, J.K.B. 2002: Killer Whale. In Perrin, W.F.; Wursig, B. and Thewissen, J.G.M. *Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals.* Academic Press: 669-676.

Foote, A.D.; Osborne, R.W. and Hoelzel, A.R. 2004: Whale-call response to masking boat noise. *Nature* 428(29 April 2004): 910.

Gowans, S.; Würsig, B. and Karczmarski, L. 2008: The social structure and strategies of delphinids: Predictions based on an ecological framework. *Advances in Marine Biology*. 53: 195 – 293.

Haase, P. and Schneider, K. 2001: Birth demographics of bottlenose dolphins, *Tursiops truncatus*, in Doubtful Sound, Fiordland, New Zealand - preliminary findings. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research* 35(4): 675-680.

Heinrich, S. and Hammond, P.S. 2006: Conservation challenges for coastal dolphins and porpoises off Isla Chiloe, southern Chile, Paper SC/58/SM25 presented at the 58th annual meeting of the International Whaling Commission, St Kitts and Nevis: 10.

Hitchmough, R.; Bull, L. and Cromarty, P. 2005: *New Zealand Threat Classification System lists - 2005,* Department of Conservation, Wellington: 194.

Jefferson, T.A.; Webber, M.A. and Pitman, R.L. 2008. *Marine Mammals of the World - A Comprehensive Guide to their Identification*, Elsevier.

Kato, H. 2002: Bryde's whales. In Perrin, W.F.; Wursig, B. and Thewissen, J.G.M. *Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals.* Academic Press: 171-177.

Kemper, C.M. and Gibbs, S.E. 2001: Dolphin interactions with tuna feedlots at Port Lincoln, South Australia and recommendations for minimising entanglements. *Journal of Cetacean Research and Management* 3(3): 283-292.

Kemper, C.M.; Pemberton, D.; Cawthorn, M.; Heinrich, S.; Mann, J.; Wursig, B.; Shaughnessy, P. and Gales, R. 2003: Aquaculture and marine mammals: co-existence or conflict? In *Marine Mammals: Fisheries, Tourism and Management Issues*. Gales, N.; Hindell, M. and Kirkwood, R. CSIRO Publishing: 480.

Knowlton, A.R. and Kraus, S.D. 2001: Mortality and serious injury of northern right whales (*Eubalaena glacialis*) in the western North Atlantic Ocean. *Journal of Cetacean Research and Management.* Special issue 2: 193-208.

Laist, D.W.; Knowlton, A.R.; Read, J.G.; Collet, A.S. and Podesta, M. 2001: Collisions between ships and whales. *Marine Mammal Science* 17(1): 35-75.

Lloyd, B.D. 2003: Potential Effects of Mussel Farming on New Zealand's Marine Mammals and Seabirds: a Discussion Paper., Department of Conservation, Wellington: vii + 34.

Lusseau, D. 2003a: Effects of tour boats on the behaviour of bottlenose dolphins: using Markov chains to model anthropogenic impacts. *Conservation Biology* 17(6): 1785-1793.

Lusseau, D. 2003b: Male and female bottlenose dolphins *Tursiops* spp. have different strategies to avoid interactions with tour boats in Doubtful Sound, New Zealand. *Marine Ecology-Progress Series* 257: 267-274.

Lusseau, D. 2004: The Hidden Cost of Tourism: Detecting Long-term Effects of Tourism Using Behavioral Information. *Ecology and Society* 9(1): 2. [online] URL: http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol9/iss1/art2.

Lusseau, D. and Slooten, E. 2002: *Cetacean Sightings off the Fiordland Coastline: Analysis of Commercial Marine Mammal Viewing Data 1996–99,* Science for Conservation 187. Department of Conservation, Wellington: 42.

Lusseau, D.; Schneider, K.; Boisseau, O.J.; Haase, P.; Slooten, E. and Dawson, S. M. 2003: The bottlenose dolphin community of Doubtful Sound features a large proportion of long-lasting associations - Can geographic isolation explain this unique trait? *Behavioral Ecology And Sociobiology* 54(4): 396-405.

Lusseau, D.; Lusseau, S. M.; Bejder, L. and Williams, R. 2006: An individual-based model to infer the impact of whalewatching on cetacean population dynamics, Paper SC/58/WW7 presented at *58th annual meeting of the International Whaling Commission, St Kitts and Nevis*

Machias, A.; Karakassis, I.; Labropoulou, M.; Somarakis, S.; Papadopoulou, K.N. and Papaconstantinou, C. 2004: Changes in wild fish assemblages after the establishment

of a fish farming zone in an oligotrophic marine ecosystem. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science* 60(4): 771-779.

Macleod, C.D. and D'Amico, A. 2006: A review of beaked whale behaviour and ecology in relation to assessing and mitigating impacts of anthropogenic noise. *Journal of Cetacean Research and Management* 7(3): 211-221.

Macleod, C.D. and Mitchell, G. 2006: Key areas for beaked whales worldwide. *Journal of Cetacean Research and Management* 7(3): 309-322.

Mann, J.; Connor, R.C.; Barre, L.M. and Heithaus, M.R. 2000: Female reproductive success in bottlenose dolphins (*Tursiops* sp.): life history, habitat, provisioning, and group-size effects. *Behavioral Ecology* 11(2): 210-219.

Markowitz, T.; Harlin, A.D.; Wursig, B. and McFadden, C.J. 2004: Dusky dolphin foraging habitat: overlap with aquaculture in New Zealand. *Aquatic Conservation-Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems* 14: 133-149.

Merrick, R.L. and Cole, T.V.N. 2007: *Evaluation of Northern Right Whale Ship Strike Reduction Measures in the Great South Channel of Massachusetts,* NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-NE-202. National Marine Fisheries Service, Woods Hole, MA.: 12.

Molloy, J.; Bell, B.; Clout, M.; de Lange, P.J.; Gibbs, G.; Given, D.; Norton, D.; Smith, N. and Stephens, T. 2002: *Classifying Species According to Threat of Extinction - a System for New Zealand*. Wellington, Department of Conservation Threatened species occasional publication 22: 26.

Morton, A.B. and Symonds, H.K. 2002: Displacement of *Orcinus orca* (L.) by high amplitude sound in British Columbia, Canada. *Ices Journal of Marine Science* 59: 71-80.

Neumann, D.R. 2001: Seasonal movements of short-beaked common dolphins (*Delphinus delphis*) in the north-western Bay of Plenty, New Zealand: influence of sea surface temperature and El Nino/La Nina. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research* 35: 371-374.

Neumann, D.R. and Orams, M.B. 2005: *Behaviour and Ecology of Common Dolphins (Delphinus Delphis) and the Impact of Tourism in Mercury Bay, North Island, New Zealand,* Science for Conservation 254. Department of Conservation, Wellington: 40.

Neumann, D.R.; Leitenberger, A. and Orams, M.B. 2002: Photo-identification of shortbeaked common dolphins (*Delphinus delphis*) in north-east New Zealand: a photocatalogue of recognisable individuals. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research* 36: 593-604.

O'Callaghan, T.M. and Baker, C.S. 2002: Summer Cetacean Community, with *Particular Reference to Bryde's Whales, in the Hauraki Gulf, New Zealand,* DOC Science Internal Series 55: 18.

Olesiuk, P.F.; Nichol, L.M.; Sowden, M.J. and Ford, J.K.B. 2002: Effect of the sound generated by an acoustic harassment device on the relative abundance and distribution of harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) in Retreat Passage, British Columbia. *Marine Mammal Science* 18(4): 843-862.

Perrin, W.F. 2002: Common dolphins. In Perrin, W.F.; Wursig, B. and Thewissen, J.G.M. (Eds.) *Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals.* Academic Press: 245-248.

Perrin, W.F.; Wursig, B. and Thewissen, J.G.M.; (Eds). 2002:. *Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals*, Academic Press.

Read, A.J.; Drinker, P. and Northridge, S.; 2006: Bycatch of marine mammals in U.S. and global fisheries. *Conservation Biology* 20(1): 163-169.

Reeves, R. 1992: *Whale Responses to Anthropogenic Sounds: a Literature Review.* DOC Science and Research Series 52. Department of Conservation, Wellington, New Zealand.

Reeves, R.R.; Smith, B.D.; Crespo. E.A. and Notarbartolo di Sciara, G. 2003: *Dolphins, Whales and Porpoises: 2002-2010 Conservation Action Plan for the World's Cetaceans*, IUCN/SSC Cetacean Specialist Group. IUCN, Gland, Switzerland and Cambridge, UK: ix + 139.

Richardson, W.J.; Fraker, M.A.; Wursig, B. and Wells, R.S. 1985: Behaviour of Bowhead Whales *Balaena mysticetus* summering in the Beaufort Sea: reactions to industrial activities. *Biological Conservation* 32: 195-230.

Slooten, E.; Dawson, S.; Rayment, W. and Childerhouse, S. 2006: A new abundance estimate for Maui's dolphin: What does it mean for managing this critically endangered species? *Biological Conservation* 128(4): 576-581.

Stockin, K.A.; Duignan, P.J.; Jones, G.W.; Pringle,J.M.; Lambert, D.M.; Meynier, L.; Bando, M.K.H.; Mirimin, L.; Natoli, A.; Russell, K.G.; Wiseman, N.; McLeod, K. and Orams, M.B. 2005: Biological data obtained from a mass mortality of common dolphins in the Hauraki Gulf, New Zealand: *Poster presented at the 16th Biennial Conference on the Biology of Marine Mammals, San Diego, December 2005.*

Stockin, K.A.; Law, R.J.; Duignan, P.J.; Jones, G.W.; Porter, L.; Mirimin, L.; Meynier, L. and Orams, M.B. 2007: Trace elements, PCBs and organochlorine pesticides in New Zealand common dolphins (*Delphinus* sp.). *Science of the Total Environment* 387: 333-345.

Stockin, K.; Lusseau, D.; Binedell, V.; Wiseman, N. and Orams, M. 2008: Tourism affects the behavioural budget of common dolphins (*Delphinus* spp.) in the Hauraki Gulf, New Zealand. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 355: 287-295.

Stone, G.S. and Yoshinaga, A. 2000: Hector's dolphin *Cephalorhynchus hectori* calf mortalities may indicate new risks from boat traffic and habituation. *Pacific Conservation Biology* 6: 162-170.

Suisted, R. and Neale, D. 2004: *Department of Conservation Marine Mammal Action Plan for 2005–2010*, Department of Conservation, Wellington: 89.

Vaughn, R.L.; Shelton, D.E.; Timm, L.L.; Watson L.A. and B. Wursig 2007: Dusky dolphin (*Lagenorhynchus obscurus*) feeding tactics and multi-species associations. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research* 41: 391-400.

Visser, I.N. 1999a. Propeller scars and known home range of two orca (*Orcinus orca*) in New Zealand waters. *New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research* 33(4): 635-642.

Visser, I.N. 1999b. Benthic foraging on stingrays by killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) in New Zealand waters. *Marine Mammal Science* 15(1): 220-227.

Visser, I.N. 2000: Orca (*Orcinus orca*) in New Zealand waters. Unpublished PhD thesis, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand.

Wells, R.S. 2003: Dolphin social complexity: Lessons from long term study and life history. pp.32–56. In De Waal, F.B.M. and Tyack, P.L. (Eds.) *Animal Social Complexity: Intelligence, Culture and Individualized Societies.* Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Mass.

Wells, R.S. and Scott, M.D. 2002: Bottlenose dolphins. In Perrin, W.F.; Wursig, B.; and Thewissen, J.G.M. *Encyclopedia of Marine Mammals*. Academic Press: 122-128.

Williams, R.; Bain, D.E.; Ford, J.K.B. and Trites, A.W. 2002: Behavioural responses of male killer whales to a 'leapfrogging' vessel. *Journal of Cetacean Research and Management* 4(3): 305-310.

Williams, R.; Trites, A.W. and Bain, D.E. 2002: Behavioural responses of killer whales (*Orcinus orca*) to whale-watching boats: opportunistic observations and experimental approaches. *Journal of Zoology, London* 256: 255-270.

Wiseman, N. 2008. Genetic identity and ecology of Bryde's whales in the Hauraki Gulf, New Zealand. Unpublished PhD thesis, <u>School of Biological Sciences</u>, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand. 259p.

Wiseman, N.; Stockin, K. and Baker, C.S. 2005: Abundance and stock identity of Bryde's whales in the Hauraki Gulf, New Zealand: *Poster presented at the 16th Biennial Conference on the Biology of Marine Mammals, San Diego (CA), December 2005.*

Wiseman, N.; Stockin, K.; McLeod, K. and Duignan, P. 2003: Vessel strikes of Bryde's whales (*Balaenoptera brydei*) in the Hauraki Gulf, New Zealand. *Poster presented at the 15th Biennial Conference on the Biology of Marine Mammals, Greensboro (NC), December 2003.*

Würsig, B. and Gailey, G.A. 2002: Marine mammals and aquaculture: conflicts and potential resolutions. In Stickney, R.R. and McVey, J.P. *Responsible Marine Aquaculture*. CAB International, Wallingford, Oxon. 45-59.

Appendix 1: Definitions of conservation status used by IUCN

Critically endangered (CR)

A taxon is Critically Endangered when the best available evidence indicates that it is facing an *extremely high* risk of extinction in the wild.

Endangered (EN)

A taxon is Endangered when the best available evidence indicates that it is facing a very high risk of extinction in the wild.

Vulnerable (VU)

A taxon is Vulnerable when the best available evidence indicates that it is facing a high risk of extinction in the wild.

Near threatened (NT)

A taxon is Near Threatened when it has been evaluated against the criteria but does not qualify for Critically Endangered, Endangered or Vulnerable now, but is close to qualifying for or is likely to qualify for a threatened category in the near future.

Least concern (LC)

A taxon is Least Concern when it does not qualify for Critically Endangered, Endangered, Vulnerable or Near Threatened. Widespread and abundant taxa are included in this category.

Data deficient (DD)

A taxon is Data Deficient when there is inadequate information to make a direct, or indirect, assessment of its risk of extinction based on its distribution and/or population status. A taxon in this category may be well studied, and its biology well known, but appropriate data on abundance and/or distribution are lacking. Data Deficient is therefore not a category of threat. Listing of taxa in this category indicates that more information is required and acknowledges the possibility that future research will show that threatened classification is appropriate.

Appendix 2: Definitions of conservation status as used by Department of Conservation.

Criteria for classifying New Zealand species differ slightly from that used by the IUCN in order to take into consideration the small size of New Zealand, and the large number of taxa with naturally restricted ranges and small population sizes (Molloy et al. 2002).

Vagrant

For the purposes of this document, vagrants are taxa that are found unexpectedly and rarely in New Zealand, and whose presence in our region is naturally transitory.

Coloniser

Colonisers are taxa that have arrived in New Zealand without direct or indirect help from humans and have been successfully reproducing in the wild for less than 50 years.

Migrant

Taxa that predictably and cyclically visit New Zealand as part of their normal life cycle, but do not breed here are included in the category Migrant.

Data Deficient

Certain criteria and/or definitions must be met for a taxon to be listed in a category. Where information is so lacking that an assessment is not possible, the taxon is assigned to the Data Deficient category.

Acutely Threatened

The categories in the 'Acutely Threatened' division—**Nationally Critical, Nationally Endangered** and **Nationally Vulnerable**—equate with the IUCN categories of Critically Endangered, Endangered and Vulnerable. Taxa in these three categories are facing a very high risk of extinction in the wild, as defined by criteria that quantify:

- Total population size
- Area of occupancy
- Fragmentation of populations
- Declines in total population
- Declines in habitat area
- Predicted declines due to existing threats

Chronically Threatened

Taxa listed in either of the two categories in the 'Chronically Threatened' grouping (**Serious Decline** and **Gradual Decline**) also face extinction, but are buffered slightly by either a large total population, or a slow decline rate (see Section 6).

At Risk

Taxa that do not meet the criteria for Acutely Threatened or Chronically Threatened, but have either restricted ranges or small scattered sub-populations, are listed in one of two categories (**Range Restricted** and **Sparse**) that fall under the division 'At Risk'. Although these taxa are not currently in decline, their population characteristics mean a new threat could rapidly deplete their population(s).